IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

In the Matter of the Estate of Earsel Rayburn Pope, Deceased

JUANITA SHARP ANDERSON ALLEN POPE

APPELLANT

VS.

NUMBER 2007-CA-00199

CATHY WHITE and JUDY O'BERRY

APPELLEES

APPEAL
FROM
THE CHANCERY COURT OF NESHOBA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

James A. Williams MSB #

Post Office Box 5002 Meridian, Mississippi 39302-5002

Telephone: (601) 693-3881 Attorney for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Whether The Jury Verdict was Contrary to the Overwhelming Weight of the Evidence and Contrary to Law and therefore Court erred in Not Granting a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceedings Below

Earsel Pope died on March 29, 2004, and left a will naming his Wife,
Juanita(Patsy) Pope as his sole beneficiary. On May 12, 2004, his two daughters, Judy
O'Berry and Cathy White, filed a Caveat against the Will(C P 5, RE18)naming the third
daughter. Teresa Williamson and Patsy as interested parties. On June 3, 2004, these two
daughters then filed Petitions for Injunctive Relief, etc. against Teresa and Patsy.(See RE
20. for one against Teresa) alleging inter vivos gifts and undue influence by both as being
exercised against Earsel to gain assets. A jury trial was held October 16, 17 and 18th,
2006 in the Chancery Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi before Honorable Chancellor
John Love. Teresa had joined her two sisters as another Contestant. A verdict was
returned for the daughters that the will was not the will of Earsel.(See Verdict RE 41) A
Judgment conforming to the Verdict was entered on November 3, 2006(RE 12-13), CP
449-450) A Motion for J. N. O. V.(Re 29-30, CP451-452) on November 14th was filed
by Patsy and denied on December 28, 2006(CP 463, RE 14). This appeal followed.

Testimony, Evidence and Exhibits

The Proponents of the Will, Patsy Pope, to prove the Will, first called Susan Alford, one of two secretaries of Philadelphia Attorney Robert Thomas, who knew the circumstances of how the Will came to be drawn up and witnessed.(T57) She and Heather Irby and another secretary Lisa Nowell were present when Earsel Pope came in and asked her and Heather to witness his Will. Earsel was very quiet and they watched him read over it and then he asked them to witness it.(T58) On Cross, she testified Earsel came in

one day for the appointment with Attorney Thomas and then another he came in to sign the Will. His wife Patsy was with him the first day. She could not remember if Patsy was there the second visit. The first day, Patsy went in with Earsel to the attorney's private office.(T60) She didn't remember who she talked to on the phone, but thought it was Patsy. The signing day, if Patsy was there she would not have come up to the window to see Earsel sign, because it wasn't big enough for two people. She could have heard everything from the sitting area.. She didn't remember asking any competency questions to Earsel the day of the signing, just talk about the weather, his health and the will signing. She remembered that Earsel wrote the check to pay for the Will. She would have remembered if his Wife had written the check. (T61-63)

Heather Irby, the other secretary then testified (T65) She didn't remember who made the appointment. Earsel didn't specifically ask her to witness his will. Patsy was there the day of the appointment, but she could not remember if Patsy was there the day of the signing. (T67) The Will was introduced as Proponent's Exhibit 1. (T67) She didn't engage in competency conversation, just about the signing of the Will, but "he appeared to be in a good state of mind." (T68) The Proponent rested at T 70 and a motion to reject the Will for failure to request witness was overruled. (T71-72)

The Contestants then put on their case for Undue Influence and called Mrs. Juanita(Patsy) Pope as an adverse witness.(T 73) Earsel asked her to mairy him, not the reverse, and they sat no particular date but had discussed it for a long time. They got married on October 9, 2003. She didn't remember an engagement day.(T74) They had dated a couple of months before the October marriage day. She denied she was a paid sitter, but acknowledge a \$100.00 check about September 18, 2003, given her by Teresa, saying they had dated for two months, been to the mountains, been out to eat in Meridian. She said she stayed out at his trailer two months before he asked her to marry him. As to whether she was his girlfriend on September 18th, she said they were real close.(T77) As to sitter, she said Teresa asked her to stay one day while she went to the doctor and she took Earsel out to eat in Meridian. She said they were just friends on September 18th.

They were seeing each other off and on but by September 2003, she was staying out at the trailer with Earsel. "We were living together". (T78) When she took the money, she knew she would spend it on Earsel. she was not a paid sitter but did receive money from Teresa twice. because Teresa said her father would be mad if she didn't.

She saw a hospice nurse two times, and then they only came to put pills in the med planner. Mr. White showed her nurses notes for October 8 and she denied that she or Earsel identified Patsy as a sitter to the nurse(Ms Phillips below). She described Earsel as the most wonderful person she ever met, her best friend. They got married on the same week as their birthdays.(T82) She denied Earsel was "sick", but admitted he had Leukemia, explaining that when she took him back to Doctor Clay for his check-up(apparently October 20, 2003, see below at Phillips), the doctor took him off of the medicine that was just maintaining him and put him on something that he gives patients to get better because he was looking so much better and had gained a little weight and had good color.(T83) She admitted Earsel was a diabetic but said his sugar could be controlled by food without insulin. His shoulders were bad and he had a stroke on one side, but she walked him to get him better.(T84)

She didn't' know of Earsel's assets when she married him and only learned of the "\$200,000,000 bank account" much later. He had a bank account and she had one. She learned a few weeks after the marriage of the \$63,000.00 account(at Sebastopol) (T86) Earsel wanted to move the account. He was able to drive, but she didn't want him to. It hurt his shoulders. Earsel took large amounts of medicine. He did use a lift chair, but not a cane or walker. He took 21 pills a day. She explained that the immediate decision came up because Teresa said everybody in town was talking about them shacking up, which upset Earsel very, very much and that's when they decided to get married.(T90) He had proposed a few days before and had gone to her mothers, Kate Williamson, across the field and asked for Patsy's had inmarriage.(T91) They went to get the blood tests on October 1 because they knew they were going to get married.

It was Earsel's idea to make the Will. She didn't' recall if she was married on the

9th and called Attorney Thomas' office on the 10th. Earsel asked her to call Thomas' office. She explained: "He said he wanted to get Teresa's name off the power of attorney and just her in the will and I though he was going up there to put all three of them in the will. I didn't know."(T92) She drove Earsel to Thomas' office, because his arms hurt when he drove. It could have been they went in on Monday, after getting married on the Thursday before.(T93)

She went in with Earsel because Thomas was her Attorney and a friend of hers. When they went into Thomas' private office, Earsel wasn't saying anything. She was just talking with Robert, something about Texas. She asked him if it was the same as in Texas that everybody had to be in the Will to make it legal. All the children.(T94) She wanted to make sure they didn't have to go up there again. She asked the question because "I didn't want all this to happen." She wasn't concerned with the content of the Will. She went to the Lobby when the Will was made, because it wasn't any of her business.(T95) Thomas did not ask her to leave, but he said if she would feel better she could leave. On the 13th, when they returned for Earsel to sign, he wasn't taking any Lortab, no medicine to affect his thinking. She locked the Will up at her place, not the double wide because there were too many people coming in and out doing construction on the double wife.(T96) Earsel told her to put the Will somewhere safe. Just a few weeks later, she learned she was the only one in the Will and she protested. Earsel said it was his right.(T97)

As to a "\$200,00000 bank account,, she said she learned of that after Earsel's death, after she had hired Attorney Williams in the Will contest, however, she did know of the annuity a few weeks after the marriage, when Terrell Flint came out and Earsel withdrew \$50,000.00. She denied she had appeared at the Bank in January 2004 with Earsel to get the New York Life Annuity cashed nor to pick up the \$200,000.00 a few days later.(T99)

Earsel spent money on her, first a two carat diamond bracelet and then a Crown Victoria for Christmas. Earsel then bought a 2003 Ford F-150 pickup saying she would need it later, it had a chair lift.(T100) Earsel wouldn't let her put him in her Will nor

change her bank accounts, because he said there would be a court battle from his children.(T101) She already had the appointment with Psychologist Kenneth Schneider(see below) and Earsel went along to get mentally evaluated to protect the Will.(T102) She offered to take Earsel to see his grandchildren and offered to leave him and then return to pick him up. She admitted she made a \$5,000.00 withdrawal from their joint account the day Earsel passed on March 29, 2004.(T106)

The Contestants then called Citizens Bank of Philadelphia loan officer, Stanley Salter, (T107) who testified to an early January 2003 visit by Earsel and Patsy about cashing in the \$202,000.00 Annuity check from New York Life. He went the check off for collection and Earsel asked him when would it be before the funds came back. Salter encouraged Earsel to think about taking that much cash. He had known Earsel all his life.(T109) Earsel called Salter back almost a week to the day. The check was not back, but it came back a day or so later and Earsel came up there or called Salter and he wanted large bills. The bank didn't normally keep that much cash on hand and he said "Mr. Pope. I'm going to have to order -- I'm gong to have to order that cash money from the Federal Reserve". It may have been two or three weeks before we actually handed him the money. When he came to retrieve the money, his mother in law, Katie Williamson, was with him. Salter turned over the counting to Linda King(see below) and Sandra Curtis. (T110) On Cross, Salter was quizzed on dates of the visits and admitted the money might have been wired into Citizens from Fleet Bank and not actually sent by check.(T114-116) He said he didn't have any reason to believe that Mr. Pope didn't understand the delays: he knew Mr. Pope's family.(T118)

During the first visit where Salter saw Patsy Pope, she didn't not talk a lot. Mr. Pope did most of the talking.(T120)

On Re-direct(T120), when asked did Patsy make any statement supporting Earsel's request for \$202.000.00 cash, Salter said: "Well, the best I can answer the questions was this. I started encouraging him not to cash the check. The reason I did is because I knew he and all three of his daughters and -- you know, long time family friends: and there was

no response at any time by either one, you know, that they wanted to do anything other than cash the check; and I was instructed not to say anything to anybody else about the fact that they were going to cash the check. Mr. Pope informed me that it was his money; and, of course, I said, 'Yes, Sir.' Of course, you know, because of privacy laws, we couldn't say anything to anybody else."(T121)

For the Contestants, Linda King testified(T122), that she met Earsel and his mother in law, Kate Williamson, and they both insisted on cash. When she helped Mr. Pope out to the truck, she saw Patsy Pope in the truck and she helped place the sack of money between Earsel's legs after he got in the truck. Both Earsel and Kate were equally insistent they wanted cash.(T124)

The Contestants then called Katie Williamson(T129-131) who testified that if anyone else testified that Patsy was with her they day Earsel got the \$202,000.00, they would be lying.

Contestants then called Clay Williamson(T132), Teresa's husband and Patsy Pope's brother, son of Katie Williamson, who said Patsy "used to be his sister", who then described Earsel's health conditions, problems driving, falling, staying sick all the time until he and Teresa started taking care of him. He had heart problems and they did almost everything for him, preparing his meals and cleaning him up when he had an accident of bowels.(T133) They lived with him first at River Road, their home, and then moved with him out to the double wide with him, and moved out the day he married Patsy. Patsy sat with Earsel, when he and Teresa needed a day off of went out of town. Probably a month passed from when they first said they were getting married until they got married. They acted just like friends. As to his relationship with his three daughters, "well, like I said, me and Teresa lived with him; and he didn't want his other two daughters around."(T135)

After the marriage, his and Teresa's relationship was non existent because Earsel wanted them to live with him, but they went back home to River Road.(T135) Earsel told them he was getting married and Patsy wasn't there. He didn't know if Patsy knew of Earsel's assets, but he knew of them all.(T136) Clay kept Earsel's books straight. He and

Teresa had Attorney Robert Thomas draw up their Wills and had him go over Earsel's will, about a year before Earsel died in March 2004. They carried Earsel's Will up there along with Mr. Pope and asked Thomas about it.(T137) He had the opinion that his sister. Patsy married Earsel for his money because she knew he was dying, had Leukemia. However, when asked, he said Earsel was in pretty good shape at the time of the marriage.(T138) Earsel told them that Patsy had asked him to marry her. He told them he was getting married and wanted Clay and Teresa to stand up for him, but they didn't because Teresa would not.

Earsel would not take the Lorcet, never over twice a day; some days, not at all. Clay said Earsel would have good days and bad days and he didn't know if it was the medicine causing it or what.(T140) On good days he could remember and talk about current events, but on bad days it was about things 40 or 50 years ago. Sometimes he would go for two or three weeks without having a bad day. As to how he was when he got married, Clay said: "He got real mean there toward the end. I don't know what was causing it." This was after he got married. He explained how when they were moving out, he wouldn't want something to be taken; that wasn't in his nature. Asked whether he was a pretty quiet person. Clay said he talked a lot, but never to offend anyone.(T141) Katie would have known of Earsel's assets because she and Teresa talked.(T143)

Contestants called Cathy White(T144) who testified her mother, Earlene, her Gad's first wife passed March 2, 2001 and her dad was very depressed, wishing every day he could have gone or could be with her. He was 73 then when Earlene died. Right after the death, Cathy and Judy took turns staying with their dad at night at his house on Will Avenue. Judy was a retired nurse and she had more time. Then Teresa and Clay moved in with Earsel "and at a alter date sold his house and moved in with them at their house." (T145)

Though he had Leukemia, his blood count was doing fairly well when she and Judy were taking turns taking care of him. His shoulders were gone from barbering and he took Cortisone shots, but had no strength even to pull his shirt on. He was dependent

on others. She didn't really remember who put him on Hospice care. "He was on hospice, I guess, after Mother died and he started having so much heart problems to my recollection now; and that's when he started having a nurse come out."(T146) She didn't believe he was competent to know to take his medicine regularly. He was about the same condition as he was when he was around her and Judy as he was when he made his will in October 2003. He was always depressed.(T147)

She was angry when she heard about the Will. Asked again about Earsel's mental state at the Monday of making the Will, Cathy wife said: "Again, he was just all -- he was depressed. He was just -- Daddy was kind of a stubborn man. He was a private man, you know, about his affairs and all."(T150) She said he was vulnerable, didn't want to hurt anybody's feelings, a tender hearted, giving person. Whoever he was with, that was who he wanted to please. Asked whether Earsel took medications for mental problems, again, Cathy said he took medicine for depression. She said he was susceptible to undue influence, explaining(T150) when they were working on the double wide before he got married, he didn't want the sun porch, it was too expensive and she said he should say so, but he let it be built and paid for it anyway.

Asked about being at a meeting where there was Terrell Flint and withdrawing money from the New York Life annuity, she explained, Earsel and Patsy were married on a Thursday she thought and on Monday she was out at the trailer just to see them. Terrell was there and her daddy was withdrawing \$50,000.00 from the annuity to buy a new truck though he had enough in his checking account to buy a new truck. She testified: "Well, I didn't question him because, again, Daddy didn't like anybody interfering in his business, you know; but, anyway, Daddy showed me the will; and, I, of course, objected to that like anybody would, I think. And I asked him, I said, 'Daddy, you can word your will anyway you want to do it. Any way you want to put in your will, you can do. That's your will.' I said, 'Why leave Teresa, Judy, and me totally out of it?" I said, 'Don't put your trust in one person.'"(T151)

She continued saying Earsel's response was that he knew and she said to put them

all in there with Juanita(Patsy) and he told her "well. we'll change that." Cathy said she looked at Terrell and asked him did he have the paper work and he said he did. It was in the car and he'd have to go get it. Attorney White then interrupted Cathy, pointing out to her that they were talking about the will, saying "I want to know did you ever talk to him about changing the will that he made for Mrs. Pope." She answered she did and Attorney White then said: "I will get to the financial thing again." Cathy White then recounted again staying focused on the Will, but did add that in that same conversation they were talking about getting Earsel's truck back from Teresa that he had signed the title to. She testified: "they didn't know how to go about getting it back. And I said, 'well, I'll go with you and do what I can." (T152) They also wanted Teresa off the power of Attorney. Attorney White then asked on that Monday during the discussion with Flint had Earsel changed the Annuity

to reflect Patsy as half owner. She knew because her Daddy told her as he sat in the recliner with Terrell Flint standing in the dining room. Cathy attempted to change the Annuity that day and Juanita objected and told Flint not to go get the paper work to make the change. Her dad told her he would fix it back to include his daughters in the estate.(T153)

Cathy testified when she visited with her Dad at Patsy's apartment, there was always another person there, either Patsy, Katie or another Williamson child. Vickie. She thought that Patsy had used massaging and inappropriate sitting for a woman, to influence her dad and had slept with him before marriage. She was sure her dad's dependancy was used to influence him in making the will, but she knew of no specific examples of people influence her dad about the time of making the will.(T155) (See Sister's Petition to recover assets from Teresa alleging undue influence, at RE 20-28)

Contestants then called Earsel's, 74 year old sister Marie Lovern(T156) who could only testify that she felt like Earsel wasn't "just right" all the time.

Contestants called Judy O'Berry(T159) who in response to the questions as to what was Earsel's mental condition during the 21months she was his care giver, testified

her dad was not a leader, but one to go along with what others initiated. Again asked as to mental problems being caused by his physical problems, she recounted his physical ailments and said he was extremely depressed, telling her often that he had no reason to live after Earlene had died. Asked whether he was mentally capable of taking his own medicine, Judy said he was if he could remember.(T160) As to visits at Patsy's apartment after the marriage and freedom of relationship with their dad, Judy said there was always another around and one time, she was on the phone with him and he said he had to hang up because they were coming in. (T162) After the marriage, he told her his greatest regret was selling his home and not having a home to go to. She recounted how she and Cathy had waited a few weeks after their dad's death to ask about the estate and Patsy didn't have time, because she was cleaning out a freezer but told them "now that he was dead, it was hers, all hers."(T163)

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