IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI



In the Matter of the Estate of Earsel Rayburn Pope, Deceased

JUANITA SHARP ANDERSON ALLEN POPE

APPELLANT

VS.

Number 2007-CA-00199

CATHY WHITE, JUDY O'BERRY and TERESA WILLIAMSON

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF NESHOBA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE JOHN CLARK LOVE, CHANCELLOR, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Wade White, Esquire
MSB
Jordan & White
501 Main Street
Philadelphia, MS 39350
Telephone No. (601) 656-2451
Attorney for Appellees, Cathy
White and Judy O'Berry

Steven D. Settlemires
MSB #
Settlemires, Graham & Mills
410 E. Beacon Street
Philadelphia, MS 39350
Telephone No. (601) 656-9597
Attorney for Appellee, Teresa
Williamson

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceeding Below

Earsel Pope (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Pope") departed this life on March 29, 2004 as a resident citizen of Neshoba County Mississippi. Mr. Pope was married to Juanita Sharp Anderson Allen Pope, hereinafter referred to as "Pasty" and in the transcript and record she may also be referred to a "Juanita". Mr. Pope, also, had three (3) natural children, Cathy White (hereinafter referred to as "Cathy"), Judy O'Berry (hereinafter referred to as "Judy") and Teresa Williamson (hereinafter referred to as "Teresa") and all of whom may be collectively referred to as "children" or "daughters".

The Tuesday after marrying Patsy on Thursday at a local funeral home, Mr. Pope executed a document (hereinafter referred to as "will") that Patsy purported to be the Last Will and Testament of Earsel Pope, dated October 14, 2003. (R. 35). After Mr. Pope's death, Cathy and Judy filed a Petition for Appointment of Administratrix and for Letters of Administratrix and a Caveat Against the Probate in Common Form. (R. 1 R. 5). Also, Cathy and Judy filed Petitions for Injunctive Relief, Request for Accounting or for the Posting of Bond against Patsy and Teresa. (R. 8). Further, the document purported to be the last will and testament of Earsel Pope was filed in a Submission of Will for Probate and then a Petition to Contest Will was filed by Cathy and Judy, with Teresa later joining. (R. 32 R. 53). Thereafter, the Court appointed a Temporary Adminstrator, Honorable Kiley Kirk of Louisville, Mississippi. (R. 102). A jury trial was held on the issue of *devisavit vel non* commencing October 16, 2007 and ending October 18, 2007, with the same being set by Order Setting Cause for Trial. (R. 264). A Jury Verdict was returned in favor of the Contestants, the children, declaring the

document not to be the valid Last Will and Testament of Earsel Rayburn Pope. (R. 443). A Judgment conforming to the Verdict was entered on November 3, 2006 and a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding Verdict of Jury was filed by Patsey on November 14, 2006. (R. 449 R. 451). The aforementioned Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding Verdict of Jury was denied on December 28, 2006. (R. 463). A Notice of Appeal dealt with herein was filed by Patsy on January 26, 2007. (R. 464).

Testimony, Evidence and Exhibits

Proponent's Prima Facie Case:

The Proponent, Patsy, offered the testimony of Susan Alford and Heather Irby, both legal assistants of the law firm of Alford, Thomas and Kilgore. Their testimony related to the circumstances in which the will was drawn and executed and, also, the making and scheduling of the appointment to make and execute the will. (T. 57-90).

Susan Alford recognized the will sought to be probated by Patsy. (R. 35). Mrs. Alford was an attesting witness to will along with Mrs. Heather Irby. Mrs. Alford also responded in the affirmative to the question of whether Mr. Pope appeared to be competent and understand what he was doing. As to Mr. Pope's specific demeanor when was in the office to execute the will, Mrs. Alford stated he was "very quiet." According to Mrs. Alford, Patsy came to the law office when the contents of the will were discussed with Mr. Robert Thomas. (T. 58). Also according to Mrs. Alford, when Mr. Pope was signing the will, if Patsy did come with him to the office, Patsy would have had to been only a few feet away from Mr. Pope when he was signing the will and within hearing distance of Mr. Pope and the attesting witnesses. (T. 61).

Heather Irby, another attesting witness to the will sought to be probated by Patsy

and a legal assistant at Alford, Thomas and Kilgore, also testified that Patsy was with Mr. Pope in the law office the initial time Mr. Pope was to meet with Mr. Robert Thomas to discuss the terms of the will. (T. 65). After the testimony of Mrs. Alford and Mrs. Heather Irby, the Proponent rested her prima facie case as to the probate of the will. (T. 70).

Contestant's Case in Chief:

Contestants presented their case in chief by first calling Patsy Pope as an adverse witness. (T. 73). Patsy testified as to being married four (4) times. (T. 73-74). Patsy could not remember the date the Earsel offered his hand in marriage nor could she remember the date she accepted his offer to marry him. (T. 74). According to Patsy she and Earsel began their courtship approximately two (2) months prior to their marriage on October 9, 2003, but could not identify a specific date in which the courtship began. (T. 75). Patsy further testified that she was never a paid sitter for Mr. Pope. Upon being presented with a cancelled check, she admitted that she was a sitter for Mr. Pope and that the check was compensating her for her services. (T. 76). Nevertheless, Patsy then testified, just moments after testifying she was a paid sitter, that she was not a paid sitter. Then Patsy admitted she had taken money from Teresa twice, but at this point would not provide testimony as to whether or not this money was to compensate her for sitting services. Patsy stated that she took the second payment that Teresa paid her and bought clothes for Mr. Pope. Patsy continued to give conflicting testimony as to whether or not she was a paid care giver for Mr. Pope. (T. 75-79).

Patsy further testified that Mr. Pope was under the care of hospices nurses prior

to their marriage, at time of their marriage, the few days after the marriage when the will was made. (T. 81). Patsy was questioned about a hospice nurse visiting Mr. Pope the day before his marriage to Patsy and the nurses' notes identifying Patsy as his "sitter". (T. 82-83).

As to Mr. Pope's health at or about the time the will was made and the time he was under her care, Patsy testified that Mr. Pope "wasn't sick, despite later testifying that he had leukemia. (T. 83). According to Patsy, Mr. Pope could administer his own insulin for his diabetes, but instead that she monitored its administration. (T. 83-84). She further testified that his diabetic condition could be monitored "without giving him insulin if you cooked right." (T. 83). When asked about Mr. Pope's heart, Patsy replied that Mr. Pope said "he loved her. I guess it come from the heart." Apparently misunderstanding the question, Patsy then stated that she knew he had stints in his heart, but that "stints are not uncommon." (T. 84).

As to Mr. Pope's transportation, Patsy did most of the driving. She said that driving made Mr. Pope's shoulders hurt. (T. 88). When asked about the medicine that was administered to Mr. Pope in September of 2003 and October of 2003, Patsy admitted that Mr. Pope was administered a large amount of medicine, particular twenty-one (21) pills at one time. (T. 88-89). She, however, stated that Mr. Pope was capable of administering his own medicine but the hospice nurse would come to his home to fill a container denoting the days of the week for each medicine. (T. 89-90).

Patsy stated that she and Mr. Pope had discussed getting married the week before the Thursday in which the marriage occurred at the Stephens Funeral Home.

Patsy did testify that there was no particular reason that she and Mr. Pope got married

on October 9, 2007. (T. 90). However, when asked why they married the very day the three (3) day waiting period for the issuance of marriage licenses had expired, she said it was Mr. Pope's idea to get married. (T. 91).

As to Patsy's involvement in the making of the will, she admitted that she called to schedule the appointment with Mr. Robert Thomas, but guessed that Mr. Pope had asked her to do it. (T. 92). Patsy said that after making the appointment with Mr. Robert Thomas and after a conversation with Mr. Pope, she was under the impression that Mr. Pope was going to make a will with her name in it and with the three (3) daughters in it. (T. 93).

Pasty drove Mr. Pope to Mr. Robert Thomas' law office in Philadelphia and she, also, went into the law office with Mr. Pope. (T. 93). Patsy stated that she wanted to go into Mr. Thomas' office with Mr. Pope because Mr. Thomas was her lawyer. (T. 94). Patsy and Mr. Thomas had some discussion, but according to her it was about nothing legal. Notwithstanding the previous testimony, Patsy then stated that she asked if Mississippi's laws were like Louisiana and Texas. Patsy would never specifically state what she asked Mr. Thomas, but stated she thought "everybody had to be in the will." (T. 94). Despite asking such a questions to Mr. Thomas, Patsy stated that she did not become aware that she was the sole benefactor of Mr. Pope's will until approximately two (2) weeks after the will was made. (T. 97). Patsy said that after her conversation with Mr. Thomas and once Mr. Pope and Mr. Thomas began discussing the substance of the will, she voluntarily left the office and went into the lobby because it was not her business. (T. 95). When asked if Mr. Thomas had asked her to leave, Patsy replied "no". (T. 96). Later, Mr. Thomas stated that he asked Patsy to leave the room while

Mr. Pope and he discussed the matters of the will further. (T. 296). Once the will was made, Patsy testified that she kept the will in her house because too many people came in and out of his home. (T. 96).

Examination of Patsy then led to a matter involving a New York Life Savings Annuity in the amount of \$202,448.92 which was liquidated into cash. Patsy testified that she had no knowledge of the existence of that account until after she had retained counsel in the will contest. (T. 98). That testimony is in direct conflict the testimony of Stanley Salter, Vice President of The Citizens Bank of Philadelphia, and Linda King, a teller at the Citizens Bank of Philadelphia. (T. 107-129). Mr. Salter testified that Patsy came into his office at the Citizens Bank of Philadelphia, with Mr. Pope, wanting to cash a New York Life Annuity check in excess of \$200,000.00. (T. 108). Mr. Salter was unable to cash such a large check that day and, therefore, asked them to come back another day. (T. 109). Further, Mr. Salter testified that he had never seen a cash withdrawal in such a large amount despite working in banking institutes since 1979 (T. 108-109). Again contrary to Patsy's testimony, Mrs. Linda of The Citizens Bank testified she counted funds for the check cashed by Mr. Pope and retrieved by Mr. Pope and Mrs. Kate Williamson, Patsy's mother, when they came back the second time to the bank. (T. 122). Mrs. Linda King testified that Patsy was in fact not in the bank with Mr. Pope and her mother when the money was counted and retrieved. According to Mrs. King, however, when she toted the money outside to Mr. Pope's vehicle, Patsy was waiting in the truck. (T. 123). Mrs. King said she toted the cash money out in a large bag and the she was sure that Patsy knew what was in the bag. (T. 124). Mr. Williams, attorney for Patsy, asked Mr. Salters and Mrs. King several questions related

to the individuals with Mr. Pope at both visits and what procedures the bank uses to cash such a check. (T. 111-120 T. 124-129)

Kate Williamson, the mother of the Patsy, was called to the stand to testify adversely by the Contestants and examined my Wade White, Attorney for two of the contestants, Cathy and Judy. (T. 129). Ms. Williamson recounted her visit to The Citizens Bank with Mr. Pope to retrieve the funds from the cashed New York Life Annuity. (T. 130-132). Mrs. Williams declared that she went with Mr. Pope, but that Patsy did not go to the bank with either her or Mr. Pope. Mrs. Williamson further declared the Patsy did not have any knowledge of the transaction at The Citizens Bank of Philadelphia. (T. 131).

Clay Williamson was called to testify and examined by Steve Settlemires, an attorney for one of the Contestants, Teresa. (T. 132). Clay testified that he is married to Teresa, Mr. Pope's daughter, that he is also the brother to Patsy, and that his mother is Mrs. Kate Williamson. (T. 132). Clay recited that he and his wife had cared for Mr. Pope in the past and that Mr. Pope had lived with he and Teresa during that time. (T. 133). According to Clay, Mr. Pope had difficulty driving and with falling and, therefore, he required more care. (T. 133). Clay observed that Mr. Pope had heart problems, kidney stones, leukemia and "was sickly". (T. 133). As to general care for Mr. Pope, Clay stated that Mr. Pope had to have someone prepare his meals and clean him up when he accidents, being when he was unable to make it to the bathroom. (T. 133-134). Clay described the relationship between Mr. Pope, his three daughters and Patsy. (T. 135). Clay declared that Patsy, also known as Juanita, married "the old man just to take his money" and "that she knew he was dying." (T. 138). When Patsy was

sitting with Mr. Pope, Clay said his financial books were located in a kitchen drawer and that Patsy would very easily have access to the information. (T. 142). At the time Mr. Pope and Patsy got married, Mr. Pope used a cane and a wheelchair to get around and that he was taking Lorcet 10 for pain. (T. 140). Further, Clay testified as to Mr. Pope's changing mental state. (T. 140-141).

Mrs. Cathy White, a Contestant and daughter to Mr. Pope, was called to testify and examined by Wade White, her attorney and also the attorney for her sister, Judy. (T. 144). Cathy recounted her mother, Earline, being married to Mr. Pope for 53 to 54 years and that her mother had only recently died before her father married Patsy. (T. 144). According to Cathy, her father was in a very emotional state after the death of her mother. (T. 144-145). Cathy further described her father as vulnerable. (T. 150). She testified further that her father was on hospice care because he was terminally ill with Leukemia, in addition to being severely diabetic and having heart conditions. (T. 146). Cathy discussed the hospice nurses coming to Mr. Pope's home to fill his medicine box up, discuss his ailments and take his blood pressure. (T. 146-147). Furthermore, she stated that her father was unable to remember to administer himself his own medicine and that he was dependent on others to administer his medicine to him. She further recounted that Mr. Pope was always depressed since the death of his first wife. (T. 147). Cathy told that she and her sisters help her mother and father their entire lives to accumulate their wealth and that she thought the family should be able to have an interest in it. (T. 148).

Further, Cathy testified that she was not allowed to see her father after he married Patsy, who is also known as Juanita. (T. 151). After the marriage, Cathy

described an event where Mr. Pope met with his financial adviser to remove approximately \$50,00.00 to purchase a new truck. (T. 151). Examination of Cathy by the Proponents of the will was reserved by for rebuttal purposes. (T. 156).

Mrs. Marie Lovern was called to testify by the Contestants and examined by Wade White, Attorney for the Contestants. Marie Lovern is the 74 year old sister to Mr. Pope. (T 156) She testified that about Mr. Pope's mental and physical health. (T. 157). Ms. Lovern was not cross-examined. (T. 158).

Mrs. Judy O'Berry was called to testify on behalf of the Contestants and was examined by Wade White, Attorney for Contestants. Judy recounted that she cared for Mr. Pope for approximately twenty-one (21) months. She stated that her father was not the leader of the family, but instead her mother was the leader. (T. 159). Judy detailed Mr. Pope's ailments and his dependency on a care giver. (T. 160). For instance, she stated that Mr. Pope could give himself his own insulin shot, but that he could not see well enough draw his own insulin up. (T. 160). Similar to Cathy, Judy stated that she, too, was not allowed to visit her father after his marriage to Patsy. (T. 161). After Mr. Pope's death, Judy called Patsy and asked if they needed to meet to address his assets, to which Patsy replied that "it was all hers, all hers." (T. 163).

The Contestants next called Mrs. Sandy Boatner to testify and Wade White examined Mrs. Boatner. Mrs. Boatner identified herself as an employee with Hospice Direct and having held such employment for the past four years. She declared that she is a licensed nurse in the state of Mississippi and has been such since 1984. (T. 166). She testified that she had the opportunity to assess her patient's mental and physical health and that Mr. Pope was a patient of hers. (T. 167). After Mrs. Boatner was

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